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After a snowy winter, gardeners are excited to be back in the park.
The first official workday was April 11.  Flora Conservancy of Forest 
Park volunteers joined neighborhood gardeners to weed, trim, rake and 
plant.  Efforts were centered around the Washington Statue and the Rock 
Garden on the west side of the park.  The landscaping around Washing-
ton Statue has changed many times since its installation in 1869.   Two 
years ago, curbing was installed around the 5 circular beds.  Marilyn 
Lane is lead gardener for the Washington area gardens.

The Rock Garden was originally a water complex with a waterfall and 
fountains.  The rock lining the garden today was part of that 1870 fea-
ture.  Vickie Houghton heads this garden area. 

The beautiful carved stone urn in the northwest quadrant of the park is 
undergoing a major replanting.  Under the leadership of Rob Forrest, soil 
was removed from the massive urn to open the drainage system.  
“Urnee” will be replanted later this spring.  Thanks Rob, you’ve “urned” 
our respect.  The urn was an early feature of the park. 

Flora Conservancy of Forest Park returned to the Grotto area to blow 
leaves out of the flowerbeds and trim back grasses and other plants.   
Mark Kalk, Susan Pinker-Dodd and Carolyn Willmore are garden lead-
ers for the Grotto.  During the early months of 2015, Lafayette Square 
volunteers have been raising plants for Lafayette Park at the green-
houses in Forest Park.  With support provided by the Flora Conser-
vancy of Forest Park over 1500 plants were grown for our use.

A Blooming Good Time!

Views of neighborhood 
and Flora Conservancy 
volunteers working in 
the park for a recent 

work day in early 
spring.
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Mending Fences President’s Report by Ward Buckner

“It’s Elementary” Trivia Night a Success

The Park House has been restored, statues have been con-
served, the Boathouse has become the Kern Pavilion and 
work is about to start on repairing the entrance gates and the 
fence.  The word "Conservancy" was chosen for the name of 
this organization in recognition of the fact that its first duty is 
to protect what is here.  A second duty is to document and 
restore what has been lost.

We are mindful of the fact that a lot of the park's original fea-
tures are not here today.  The base of the 1876 Music Stand is 
an obvious reminder of what we have lost.  We know that the 
rock garden was once part of the path around a series of 
ponds decorated with a spray fountain and water cascades.  
Other lost items have left no clues that they were here. The 
iron Chinese Pavilion near the Park and Mississippi corner 
has vanished. The original music pavilion overlooking the 
lake on the high ground on its east side is gone.  Photographs 
are the only remains of these and other lost features. 

Additional pathway resurfacing should get underway soon. 
There is a shortfall in funding available for the Grotto Bridge 
Hand Rail.  All of the proceeds from sale of Park Bonds allot-
ted for the park have been committed.  We are exploring 
ways to close the funding gap.

Doggie bag consumption dipped slightly in 2014 to 40,000 
bags from the high of 42,000 in 2013.  Usage has picked up 
with the improvement in weather and keeping all four stands 
in the park fully stocked is a challenge.  The restroom doors 
in the Kern are finally open.  The delay in getting them open 
seems to be due to the lack of enough personnel to open them 
after seasonal employees are laid off by the Parks Depart-
ment.  What will happen to the port-a-potties is a mystery.

Lafayette Square neighbors and friends gathered at St. Vincent 
DePaul Church Hall on March 7 for a rousing game of Trivia. 
This year’s theme was “It’s Elementary.” Several teams came 
dressed as elementary school children. Principal Rob from the 
winning best themed table maintained order and handed out 
hall passes.  A silent auction, raffle, 50/50, and games of 
“Dead or Alive” and “Heads or Tails” filled out the evening. 
The event raised nearly $6,000. The proceeds will be used to 
restore the second of three Revolutionary War guns.  

The evening was presented with the help of By-Ron Enter-
tainment. 

As the 150th anniversary of the 1869 erection of the Lafayette 
Park fence approaches, the LPC Fence Committee continues 
planning for restoration of the park’s iconic enclosure.  It has 
been almost 40 years since the fence was last restored.  At that 
time the fence was shortened by about 10 inches with the re-
moval of the skirt that ran along the bottom of each section.
The committee has learned a lot about the fence’s construc-
tion in the past few months, including having the fence x-
rayed in order to see internal post structure.  It turns out the 
missing skirt served as a structural girder and must be re-
placed to stop the fence sections from sagging.  
The fence is a daunting project given its length of more that 
4,000 feet and thousands of individual components.  In the 
short term, the LPC is soliciting bids to recreate one of the 14 
missing fence gates.
This fence is one of the rarest survivors, an elaborate example 
of 19th century ironwork built for a public space on a massive 
scale.  “Saving the Fence” will be the Conservancy’s major 
project for the next few years.

Lafayette Park 
fence section 
circa 1895 

showing the 
complete struc-
ture including 
the skirting at 
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Lafayette Park Conservancy offers two PowerPoint presentations for your meeting or organizational event:
“The Man Who Made St. Louis Beautiful” rediscovers the German-American Landscape Gardener who designed 
many St. Louis parks including Lafayette Park and Forest Park and created the landscape plan for Westmoreland 
and Portland Places.
“The Fascinating History of Lafayette Park” takes you from the St. Louis Common to Lafayette Park today with 
emphasis on the Victorian Era.

To schedule a program, contact Carolyn at clwillmore@gmail.com.  The cost for a program is $50 for a not-for-
profit organization.

Park and Mississippi entrance gate.

Need a Program for your Organization?

The year of 2015 marks the 150th anniversary of the end of 
the Civil War.  In recognition of the anniversary the LPC 
collaborated with the Missouri Civil War Heritage Foun-
dation to create a panel dealing the many interesting 
events that happened in the neighborhood during those 
war years.  Montgomery Blair, U.S. Postmaster General 
and a member of Abraham Lincoln’s cabinet, lived on 
Park Avenue just north of the park at the start of the war.  
Union soldiers used the park as a campground while they 
awaited orders to travel south to the fighting.  A large 
earthwork fort sat on the western edge of Lafayette Park, 
between Missouri and Jefferson Avenues on the present 
day Whittemore Place.  The fort was triangular shaped, 
each side measured about 400 feet long and it contained 4 
large guns.  The panel was dedicated on May 16th with a 
ceremony that featured a Civil War color guard organized 
as the 8th Missouri Volunteer Infantry as well as dramati-
zations of life in Lafayette Square during the Civil War by 
ETC. Senior Theatre.  Family activities and refreshments 
were located in the Kern Lakeside Pavilion.

Read the entire panel shown above on your next stroll 
through the park or view it online at:  
lafayettepark.org/civilwar.pdf

The four corner entrances to the park were designed 
to be at once monumental, attractive and inviting. The 
massive pair of iron carriage gates mounted between 
tall limestone gate posts flanked by smaller but still 
imposing pairs of iron gates for pedestrians were de-
signed to impress. The tall gas light fixtures placed on 
the gate posts a few years later gave more proof that 
Lafayette Park was not just an ordinary park. The en-
trance at Park & Mississippi has always been the most 
heavily uti- lized entrance and in some ways the least 
attractive and inviting. It is improving. The cracked 
and mismatched slabs of con- crete between the curb 
and gates have been replaced but two of the four 
pedestrian gates are missing. All four of the fence 
posts mounted beside the pedestrian gates are shat-
tered or missing. 

First things first. The Conservancy has ordered a new 
pedestrian gate from Perpetua Iron LLC, St. Louis. We 
are negotiating with a major national foundry to cast 
new fence posts. The missing ironwork there will be 
replaced when we have all the parts. Then we can 
move on to the other entrances. 

Civil War Plaque Dedication Park and Mississippi Corner Entrance

In 1861, Lafayette Park became a federal campsite known as Camp Jessie. 
Jessie Benton Fremont was the wife of Major General John C. Fremont and 
the daughter of Missouri Senator Th omas Hart Benton.

Sarah Hill’s husband, a builder by trade, joined the federal army and served 
throughout the Civil War as an engineer. She visited him at his camp in 
Lafayette Park, located in one of the city’s most fashionable neighborhoods. 
“Beautiful Lafayette Park,” recalled Hill, “with its brilliant fl ower beds and 
stretches of green sward, looking like emerald velvet, was turned into a 
great military camp.” She came to camp with a basket of food and enjoyed 
an afternoon picnic with her husband. But it seemed strange to see the 
park fi lled with tents and campfi res. “On the grassy lawns that a policemen 
has so watchfully guarded,” she noted, “now campfi res were burning and 

men were cooking the evening 
meal.” 

Th e 24th Indiana, one of the 
fi rst volunteer regiments, was 
formed in July, 1861. In August, 
they boarded trains for East St. 

Louis. “We crossed the Mississippi on the steamer ‘Alton City’, marched 
two and a half miles through the city of St. Louis, Mo. (pictured at left), 
and went to camp in the Lafayette Park. Here were the fi rst tents we ever 
pitched, and all the boys wanted to learn how. Lafayette Park is a beautiful 
park. It contains many fi ne animals. Th ere were many of our boys who had 
never seen such sites as the city of St. Louis contained. Some of them had 
sore eyes on account of so much sight-seeing.” 

A member of Captain Dill’s company was on guard duty outside the gates 
of Lafayette Park. A friendly young man struck up a conversation with the 
sentinel, and off ered him a piece of his pie. Shortly thereafter, “he was seized 
with convulsions, and was carried by his comrades to the hospital tent. Th e 
physician of the regiment found that he was poisoned with strychnine.” 

Edward Bredell 
Edward Bredell, pioneer St. Louis businessman 
and philanthropist, resided at 2110 Lafayette 
Avenue during the 1860s.  When war began, 
Bredell family sympathies lay with the Southern 
cause. Mr. Bredell refused to take the loyalty 
oath in support of the Union. His wife, Angeline 
Perry Bredell secretly operated as a Confederate 
courier throughout the war.  Edward Jr. enlisted in 
the Confederate Army and received a commission. 
While serving under General Mosby, Lieutenant 
Bredell was killed on November 16, 1864, at 
Berry’s Ferry, Virginia. Initially refused a public burial permit for “Eddie,” 
Mr. Bredell was forced to temporarily inter his son in the rear garden of 
his home on Lafayette Avenue. 

The bereaved parents later 
donated a memorial window in 
the Lafayette Park Presbyterian 
Church on Missouri Avenue in 
memory of their only son, Edward 
Bredell, Jr. The window is still there 
today. (pictured above)

Montgomery Blair
Prior to and following the war, 
Montgomery Blair resided at No. 
1 Benton Place, which he had 
platted in the 1850s. Blair acted 
as co-counsel for Dred Scott before the U.S. Supreme Court in the 

landmark slavery case Dred Scott vs. Sanford. In 1861, 
President Lincoln appointed him to the cabinet post 
of Postmaster General. The former Blair family home 
(on Lafayette Square) in Washington, D.C., is today 
the offi cial state guesthouse of the President of the 
United States.

For more information about the Civil War in Lafayette Square, please 
visit www.lafayettepark.org/war

Under the leadership of General 
Fremont, defensive forts were built 
along the western edge of St. Louis 
at the beginning of the war. “Th ese 
forts were not considerable aff airs, 
averaging, as they did, but four 
guns (heavy) apiece.” It was hoped “they would 
provide a good rallying point in the event of any 
emergency from within, as well as from without.”
 Th e forts were unceremoniously named Fort 
No. 1 through Fort No. 10. Forts Nos. 3, 4, and 
5 were within easy walking distance of Lafayette 
Square. Although none of the forts was ever 
attacked, there was a military execution at Fort No. 
4. On October 29, 1864, six Confederate soldiers 
chosen at random from Gratiot Prison were taken 

to Fort No. 4 and executed by a 
fi ring squad. Th ree thousand people, 
mainly soldiers, witnessed the event. 
Th e execution was in retaliation for the 
execution of seven Union soldiers near 
Union, Missouri, during Confederate 

General Sterling Price’s Raid in Missouri. 
 U.S. Army records reveal that Company G of 
the 60th U.S. Colored Infantry was on guard duty 
at Forts No. 5 through No. 10 during the months 
of October, November, and December of 1863. 
Fort No. 5 sat on the western edge of Lafayette 
Park, between Missouri and Jeff erson Avenues on 
the present-day Whittemore Place. It was triangular 
shaped, each side measured about 400 feet long and 
it contained 4 columbaid guns (pictured above).

Missouri’s
CIVIL WAR

Lafayette Park and Square

Sources: “Harper’s Weekly”, Sept. 1861; Encyclopedia of the History of St. Louis, Vol. 
II, 1899; “Mrs. Hill’s Journal” – Civil War Reminiscences; “Albany Evening Journal”, 
August 30, 1861; “A History of the 24th Indiana Volunteer Infantry” by Richard Fulfer; 
and the Missouri Historical Society.

Learn more at www.mocivilwar.org

Copyright © 2015 Missouri’s Civil War Heritage Foundation, Inc.

Troops Encamped in the Park 

Made possible by a grant from Th e Lafayette Park Conservancy

Neighbors at War

Th is educational panel erected in cooperation 
with the Missouri History Museum. Learn 
more at www.mohistory.org.

Intersection of Jeff erson and Lafayette Avenues showing the earthwork remains of Fort No. 5. 
From Compton and Dry’s “Pictorial St. Louis,” 1875
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Friends are saying,
“Join the Conservancy!”

Lafayette Park Conservancy
2023 Lafayette Avenue
Saint Louis, Missouri 63104

Memberships are valid for one year. The 
Lafayette Park Conservancy is a 501(c)(3) non-
profit corporation. If your contribution is eligible 
for a matching gift, please include your compa-
ny’s matching form.  Return with your order to:

 
Lafayette Park Conservancy

2023 Lafayette Avenue

St. Louis, MO 63104

Or make your contribution on our website using 
PayPal:

www.lafayettepark.org

❏  I want to donate $________ to the Fence Project. 

❏  I want to donate $________ to the Guns Project. 

Board of Directors

Wardwell Buckner - President
Andrew Hahn - 1st Vice-President
Carolyn Willmore - 2nd Vice-President
Larry Dodd - Treasurer
Susan Heggarty - Secretary
Robb Beal
Robert Bischoff
Tim Delahanty
Rob Forrest
George Grove, Jr.
Tom Keay
Marcia Lange
Susan Linhardt
Lisette Odell
Susan Pinker-Dodd
Paul Sauer

Advisory Board

Bob Bischoff
David Bridwell
Melanie Fathman
Mark Kalk

I/we want to join/renew at the following membership level.

!     $35 - Friend
!     $50 - Family
!     $75 - Botanist
!   $150 - Historian
!   $300 - Preservationist
!   $500 - Benton Society
! $1000 - Lafayette Society

Name(s): 
__________________________________________ 
Address: 
__________________________________________ 
__________________________________________ 
Phone:   
__________________________________________ 
Email:   
__________________________________________ 


